I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Defendant/Respondent TVI, Inc. dba Value Village (“TVI”) asks 

the Court to accept partial review of the Court of Appeals’ decision 

designated in Part II of this Petition.   

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS’ DECISION 

TVI requests partial review of the Court of Appeals’ decision in 

Carney v. Pac. Realty Assocs., LP, No. 80057-4-I, 2020 WL 5117966 

(2020), filed on August 31, 2020.  TVI is a retail tenant in a shopping plaza.  

TVI does not assign error to the Court of Appeals’ decision that TVI “did 

not exercise control over the parking lot sufficient to establish a duty…as 

possessor[s] of the common area.”  Id., at *1.  TVI does assign error to the 

Court of Appeals’ decision that TVI, as a retail tenant in a shopping plaza, 

owes a separate “duty to ensure safe ingress and egress” to its business 

invitees “regardless of whether it owns or has control of the property on 

which a known hazard exists.”  Id.   

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does the Court of Appeals’ decision conflict with the 

Supreme Court’s decision in Geise v. Lee, 84 Wn.2d 866, 868, 529 P.2d 

1054 (1975), by exposing a retail tenant in a shopping plaza to liability for 

common area parking lot design over which it has no control?   
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2. Do retail tenants in shopping plazas owe a “duty to ensure 

safe ingress and egress” to invitees approaching from a common area 

parking lot controlled by the landlord when the issue is one of parking lot 

design?   

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Marysville Plaza Common Area Parking Lot Was Designed 

and Constructed before TVI’s Tenancy  

On August 27, 1973, Safeway Inc. (“Safeway”) and landlord 

Marysville Plaza Associates (“MPA”) executed a Shopping Center Lease, 

under which Safeway agreed to lease a “building, or portion of building, 

and related improvements to be constructed thereon by lessor [MPA]…” 

“as shown on the plan dated January 5, 1973, last revised May 7, 1973, 

attached hereto as Exhibit A.”  CP 18.  The 1973 MPA/Safeway lease 

included the following provisions:   

4.  Common areas. completion and expansion of 

shopping center. All those portions of the shopping center 

not shown as building areas on Exhibit “A” shall be common 

areas for the sole and exclusive joint use of all tenants in the 

shopping center, their customers, invitees and employees...  

Lessor [MPA] agrees that, at lessor’s expense, all common 

areas will be maintained in good repair, kept clean and 

kept clear of snow and ice and adequately lighted when 

stores are open for business…   

5.  Construction of common areas and lessee’s building. 

Plans and specifications….lessor [MPA] agrees, at lessor’s 

sole cost, risk and expense, to construction the common 

areas…all parking and service areas, sidewalks, driveways 

and related improvements shown on Exhibit “A” and to 
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construct on the leased premises a building or portion of a 

building, all in accordance with plans and specifications to 

be prepared at lessor’s expense by Mar, Hara, Goe & 

Associates (architect), and approved in writing by lessor 

and lessee…. 

CP 20-21 (emphasis added).  Safeway agreed to pay a proportionate share 

of the common area maintenance (“CAM”) charges along with the other 

shopping center tenants.  CP 25.  Safeway’s lease was a “typical shopping 

center lease” under which “the tenants pay charges to the landlord who has 

the responsibility for maintaining the common areas.”  CP 680.   

Safeway’s store at Marysville Plaza was remodeled and expanded 

pursuant to an October 11, 1982 lease modification agreement.  CP 789-

803.  As part of that remodel, a diagonal handicap stall was placed at its 

current location adjacent to the curb cutout leading to the north entry of the 

Safeway store:   

 

CP 807.  Landlord MPA reviewed and approved the design change.  

CP 993; CP 988.   
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MPA added a painted crosswalk to the curb cutout in 1994 at the 

request of Safeway.  CP 809.  Plaintiff Kristin Carney’s (“Carney’s”) retail 

expert confirmed Safeway’s request was appropriate, and that the design 

and placement of the crosswalk was the responsibility of the landlord:   

Q. And is it your opinion that Safeway, as tenant, had 

an obligation to retain any designer or architect with 

regard to the placement of that crosswalk or its 

configuration? 

A. No. 

… 

Q. And once that crosswalk is requested, do you agree 

it's the responsibility of the owner to design and 

ensure installation of the crosswalk in the best 

manner? 

A. Yes.  That's an owner's responsibility. 

CP 686.   

B. TVI Became a Tenant at Marysville Plaza When It Acquired 

Shop & Save’s Sublease  

In 1998 Safeway subleased its Marysville Plaza space to Shop & 

Save, Inc.  CP 994; CP 824-849.  Section 4.1 of the Safeway/Shop & Save 

Sublease acknowledged that “Master Lessor [MPA] has the obligation 

under the Master Lease to maintain the Common Area, and Sublessor 

[Safeway] shall have no obligation to do so, except as expressly set forth 

herein…”  CP 828.  Section 4.1 further states:  

With respect to [MPA]’s obligation under the Master Lease 

to maintain the Common Area, [Safeway] shall be required 

only to use reasonable efforts to cause [MPA] to perform 
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such obligation, and then only if [Safeway] has actual notice 

of [MPA]’s failure to perform such obligations… If such 

default or defaults remain as are specific in such notice 

remain uncured upon expiration of the cure periods set forth 

in the Master Lease, then [Safeway] shall perform such 

obligation of [MPA] with reasonable diligence following 

receipt of written notice from [Shop & Save] that [MPA] has 

failed to do so.… 

Id.  The Sublease did not confer upon Shop & Save any obligation to 

evaluate, design, maintain, revise or change the Marysville Plaza common 

area parking lot configuration.   

On March 24, 2000, Safeway assigned its lease with MPA and 

sublease with Shop & Save, Inc. to Pacific Realty Associates, L.P. (“Pacific 

Realty”), pursuant to a Property Acquisition Agreement.  CP 851.  

Defendant TVI acquired Shop & Save, Inc. in 2003, and now operates a 

Value Village at the Marysville Plaza location.  CP 1001.  On August 31, 

2004, Pacific Realty entered into a Lease Modification Agreement with 

Shop & Save and TVI, which memorialized Shop & Save’s assignment of 

its interests under the Sublease to TVI, Inc.  CP 1003-1010.  Except as 

otherwise stated therein, the Lease Modification Agreement ratified the 

original Sublease, which “remains in full force and effect.”  CP 1007.   

C. TVI Had No Obligation to Evaluate the Design of the Common 

Area Parking Lot  

This case arises out of a car-versus-pedestrian accident that took 

place on August 15, 2016, at the Marysville Plaza parking lot.  CP 975.  
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Carney claims that at approximately 6:30 pm she drove to Marysville Plaza 

with the intention of shopping at Value Village, and that she was walking 

toward the store in the painted walkway when a vehicle backed out of a 

nearby handicapped parking space and struck her to the ground.  CP 976.   

 

Aerial Photo of Marysville Plaza Parking Lot, CP 1018.1  Carney 

frequented Marysville Plaza since childhood, and had traversed the 

walkway numerous times.  CP 656-657.   

TVI is aware of no prior similar incidents at the painted walkway.  

CP 999.  Carney strenuously argued to the trial court that the absence of 

prior accidents should not define TVI’s ability to be “on notice” of a 

                                                 
1 The photo referenced on page 2 of the Court of Appeals’ decision is not a photo of the 

Marysville Shopping Plaza where Carney was injured.  Rather, it is one of a collection 

of numerous photos of painted walkways in local shopping plaza parking lots.  See 

CP 635-653.  Such walkways are ubiquitous.   
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supposedly hazardous condition, but painted walkways in shopping plaza 

parking lots are common throughout the Pacific Northwest:   

   

   

See CP 635-653 (multiple examples).   

Moreover, although TVI asked Pacific Realty and landlord MPA to 

attend to various parking lot maintenance issues over the years (e.g. burned 

out lights, potholes), Carney’s “retail expert” agreed TVI had no obligation 

with respect to the parking lot design:   

Q. So are you saying it should -- well, I guess -- I'm 

trying to understand, is it your opinion that a manager 

or a store director of a retail operation should take it 

upon themselves to gain some sort of expertise in 

parking lot design so they can properly critique a 

parking lot and inform an owner if they think 

something is wrong with the design? 
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MR. GAHAN:  Objection, form. 

… 

THE WITNESS:  No. 

CP 675.     

V. ARGUMENT   

A. The Court of Appeals’ Decision Conflicts with the Supreme 

Court’s Decision in Geise v. Lee by Exposing Shopping Plaza 

Tenants to Liability for Common Area Parking Lot Design Over 

Which They Have No Control  

Retail tenants in shopping plazas owe no duty to invitees with 

respect to the design and configuration of a common area parking lot, when 

such tenants do not have the authority or ability to control or make changes 

to the parking lot design.  “The general rule in the United States is that where 

an owner divides his premises and rents certain parts to various tenants, 

while reserving other parts such as entrances and walkways for the common 

use of all tenants, it is his duty to exercise reasonable care and maintain 

these common areas in a safe condition.”  Geise v. Lee, 84 Wn.2d 866, 868, 

529 P.2d 1054 (1975). 

This rule is founded on the contractual agreement between landlord 

and tenant.  When the landlord makes an explicit covenant to repair or 

maintain the common area, the landlord is liable for negligent performance 

or nonperformance of that duty.  Mesher v. Osborne, 75 Wn. 439, 446, 134 

P. 1092 (1913); Teglo v. Porter, 65 Wn.2d 772, 774, 399 P.2d 519 (1965); 
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Brown v. Hauge, 105 Wn. App. 800, 804, 21 P.3d 716, 718 (2001) (because 

the duty arises out of contract, the contract defines the extent of the duty 

owed).     

The Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343 states: 

A possessor of land is subject to liability for physical harm 

caused to his invitees by a condition on the land if, but only 

if, he (a) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would 

discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an 

unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees, and (b) should 

expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or 

will fail to protect themselves against it, and (c) fails to 

exercise reasonable care to protect them against the danger. 

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 343, at 215-16 (1965).  Under 

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 343A (1965), a “possessor of land is 

not liable to his invitees for physical harm caused to them by any activity 

or condition on the land whose danger is known or obvious to them, unless 

the possessor should anticipate the harm despite such knowledge or 

obviousness.”  Id., at 218.   

These sections do not apply when the defendant is not the 

landowner or “possessor of land.”  Pruitt v. Savage, 128 Wn. App. 327, 331, 

115 P.3d 1000 (2005).  A “possessor of land” is:   

(a) a person who is in occupation of the land with intent 

to control it or 

(b) a person who has been in occupation of land with 

intent to control it, if no other person has 

subsequently occupied it with intent to control it, or 
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(c) a person who is entitled to immediate occupation of 

the land, if no other person is in possession.... 

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 328E (1965). 

After acknowledging “a person is in ‘control’ of the land if that 

person has the authority and ability to take precautions to reduce the risk of 

harm to entrants on the land,”2 the Court of Appeals in the instant matter 

observed that:   

 TVI’s requests for maintenance are not evidence of its authority over 

the common areas; 

 TVI cannot alter or re-design the parking lot without the owner’s 

(MPA’s) consent; and  

 The “ability to veto changes to the parking lot proposed by MPA is 

not evidence of TVI’s independent authority and ability to take 

precautions to reduce risk of harm.”   

Carney v. Pacific Realty Associates LP, et al., 2020 WL 5117966 at *4-5.  

In the first part of its decision, the Court of Appeals concluded that Carney 

“provides no evidence that TVI could unilaterally change common areas,” 

and “MPA alone ‘had the requisite ability and authority to reduce the risk 

of harm to entrants such that it was’ solely in control and possession of the 

property.”  Id., emphasis added.   

                                                 
2 Citing Adamson v. Port of Bellingham, 193 Wn.2d 178, 187, 438 P.3d 522 (2019).  
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This portion of the Court of Appeals’ decision complies entirely 

with the Washington Supreme Court’s decision in Geise v. Lee, 84 Wn.2d 

at 868 (“it is [the landlord’s] duty to exercise reasonable care and 

maintain…common areas in a safe condition”).  This is especially true 

considering the issue is one of parking lot configuration and design, rather 

than a transient hazard such as a broken curb or pothole.  Had the Court of 

Appeals stopped there, its ruling would have had firm footing in 

longstanding legal precedent. 

Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals set aside Geise v. Lee to find 

that retail tenants in shopping plazas have an additional duty to “ensure safe 

ingress and egress” of business invitees approaching from the common area 

parking lot, even when they do not “own or control the property on which 

the hazard is located.”  Carney v. Pacific Realty Associates LP, et al., 2020 

WL 5117966 at *6, citing Rockefeller v. Standard Oil Co. of California, 11 

Wn. App. at 522.  This pronouncement is difficult to reconcile with the 

Court’s simultaneous observation that TVI had no authority or ability to 

change the parking lot design, for which MPA “alone” was responsible.  

Carney, at *4-5.   

Indeed, the cases relied on by the Court of Appeals do not concern 

a retail shopping plaza situation, where the duties of the parties are 

established by contract.  Nor do they concern allegations related to the 
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design and configuration of adjacent property, as opposed to situational 

hazards that may be somehow ameliorated the party accused.  Rather, the 

Court of Appeals extrapolated from these dissimilar cases to impose a new 

“duty to ensure safe ingress and egress” on retail tenants in shopping plazas, 

effectively exposing them to liability for the design and configuration of the 

common area parking lot, even though they did not create the design and 

have no authority or ability to change it. 

The Court of Appeals first cites Baltzelle v. Doces Sixth Ave., Inc., 

5 Wn. App. 771, 774, 490 P.2d 1331 (1971), for the unremarkable 

proposition that business owners have an “obligation to use ordinary care to 

keep the approaches, entrances and exits in a reasonably safe condition for 

use of customers who are entering or leaving the business.”  Baltzelle, 5 

Wn. App. at 774.  But Baltzelle and similar cases relied on by Carney3 do 

not stand for the proposition that a retail tenant in a shopping plaza owes a 

                                                 
3 Including DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 60 Wn.2d 122, 372 P.2d 193 (1962), 

Tyler v. F. W. Woolworth Co., 181 Wash. 125, 41 P.2d 1093 (1935), and Knopp v. 

Kemp & Hebert, 193 Wash. 160, 160, 74 P.2d 924, 924 (1938).  These cases are 

notable only because they involve accidents that took place at or near entrances and 

exits.  They do not address retail shopping plazas and they do not expand the scope of 

duty owed by business owners to invitees.  De Heer concerned a woman who fell on 

exit stairs, but there was no question that the stairs were part of the premises at which 

the defendant was holding an event.  Tyler involved a shopper who fell on a ramp 

attached to and part of a store exit door, not adjacent property.  Knopp v. Kemp & 

Hebert, 193 Wash. 160, 74 P.2d 924, 924 (1938), concerned the slippery nature of 

terrazzo flooring located between the sidewalk and the door of a store – again, part of 

the store’s premises.  Not one case concerns a tenant’s purported obligation to redesign 

a common area parking lot.  
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distinct or separate duty to invitees to ensure safe ingress and egress from a 

common area parking lot.  Baltzelle did not involve a shopping plaza or a 

common area parking lot at all.  Rather, Baltzelle concerned a standpipe and 

a false planter placed near the entrance of a furniture store on 6th Avenue in 

Seattle.  Baltzelle, 5 Wn. App. at 772-773.  Baltzelle is nothing more than a 

precursor to Washington’s adoption of RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS 

§ 343, and it is a poor illustration for the Court of Appeals’ theory that retail 

tenants can be liable for the landlord’s parking lot design.   

The Court of Appeals primarily relies on Rockefeller v. Standard Oil 

Co. of California, 11 Wn. App. 520, 523 P.2d 1207 (1974), to find that “TVI 

has a duty to its customer invitees to take reasonable precautions to 

eliminate foreseeable hazards to the ingress and egress from its store, even 

if it does not own or control the property on which the hazard is located.”  

Carney, at *6, citing Rockefeller, 11 Wn. App. at 522.  Rockefeller involved 

an obscure ditch near the entrance of a gas station which was poorly lit 

because the gas station failed to replace lights on its own premises.  

Rockefeller did not involve a common area parking lot in a retail shopping 

plaza (where the duties are established by contract), and it did not concern 

a parking stall and painted walkway in place for over 20 years where there 

had been no known prior injury-incidents.   
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TVI is not on similar footing to the gas station in Rockefeller.  The 

Rockefeller court determined the gas station could “have taken reasonable 

precautions to eliminate [the hazard] by, for example, posting warnings or 

barriers or providing adequate illumination.” Rockefeller, 11 Wn. App. at 

522.  Not so for TVI, which could not have “eliminated” the handicap stall 

or painted walkway with warnings, barriers or additional illumination.  

Barriers would have blocked cars and people, the accident happened during 

daylight hours and certainly there is no obligation to warn customers that 

cars in parking lots might back up out of parking stalls.  In fact, on the issue 

of warnings, the decision in Barker v. Skagit Speedway, Inc., 119 Wn. App. 

807, 82 P.3d 244, 247 (2003), is on point: 

Washington courts have long held that there is no duty to 

warn a business invitee about conditions of which the invitee 

has actual knowledge.  To require Skagit Speedway to warn 

patrons present while sprint cars are being moved and loaded 

on trailers that they might be hit by a car being pushed would 

be a futile warning because the risk is so obvious and well 

known. This court declines to impose a duty to warn of a 

risk as obvious as this one. 

Barker, 119 Wn. App. at 813 (emphasis added).   

The Court of Appeals took pains to find an “issue of fact” with 

respect to TVI’s responsibility to preserve Carney’s case, citing an expert 

opinion that “TVI should have known about the poor design and sought to 

correct the problem.”  Carney, at *7.  This makes no sense, as the Court 
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already determined there was nothing TVI could have done as a retail tenant 

to “correct the problem” because it had no “authority and ability to take 

precautions to reduce [the] risk of harm” in the common area parking lot.4  

Carney, at *5.  The Court of Appeals’ decision not only conflicts with Geise 

v. Lee, it is internally inconsistent.   

This case is the same as Barker, and the Court should similarly 

decline to impose on retail tenants a duty to “ensure” their customers are 

protected from the obvious and well-known risk of cars backing up in 

parking lots.  TVI respectfully seeks review of the Court of Appeals’ 

decision otherwise, as it conflicts with the Supreme Court’s longstanding 

precedent in Geise v. Lee. 

B. The Court of Appeals’ Decision Involves an Issue of Substantial 

Public Interest That Should Be Decided by the Supreme Court 

As It Imposes a New Duty on Retail Tenants to “Ensure” the 

Safety of Customers in Parking Lots Controlled by Landlords  

The Court of Appeals took Rockefeller’s general proposition that 

“[a] proprietor owes a duty to its business invitees of safe ingress and egress 

from its property,” and transformed it into a retail tenant’s “duty to ensure 

safe ingress and egress for its invitees” in a common area parking lot.  

Carney, at *6, citing Rockefeller, 11 Wn. App. at 522.  The imposition of 

                                                 
4 Carney’s expert testified that the design and placement of the painted walkway is the 

owner’s responsibility, and retail tenants do NOT have a duty “to gain some sort of

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