FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/26/2020 11:09 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99072-7

Court of Appeals No. 80057-4- I

SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

TVI, Inc., d/b/a VALUE VILLAGE, a Washington corporation,

Petitioner,

vs.

KRISTEN CARNEY and STEVEN CARNEY, husband and wife,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael S. Wampold, WSBA No. 26053 Tomás A. Gahan, WSBA No. 32779 Peterson | Wampold | Rosato | Feldman | Luna 1501 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2800 Seattle, WA 98101 206-624-6800 Steven Sitcov, WSBA No. 11180 Steve Sitcov, PLLC 1000 Second Ave., # 3000 Seattle, WA 98104 206-623-1270

Attorneys for Respondents

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
II. APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED		
 A. Contrary To TVI's Assertion, The Court Of Appeals Did Not "Set Aside" <i>Geise v. Lee</i>, Nor Does The Court Of Appeals' Decision Conflict With Precedent		
 B. As The Court of Appeals' Decision Relies On The Business Owner's Longstanding Duty To Provide Safe Ingress And Egress To Customers, The Decision Does Not Raise Any Issue Of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By This Court		
Should be Determined by This Court		
IV. CONCLUSION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Baltzelle v. Doces Sixth Ave., 5 Wn. App. 771, 490 P.2d 1331 (1971)7
<i>Carney v. Pacific Realty Associates, LP,</i> No. 80057-4-I, 2020 WL 5117966, *6 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 31, 2020) passim
<i>DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer,</i> 60 Wn.2d 122, 372 P.2d 193 (1962)7
<i>Geise v. Lee</i> , 84 Wn.2d 866, 529 P.2d 1054 (1975)1, 5, 6
McMann v. Benton County, Angeles Park Communities, Ltd., 88 Wn. App. 737, 946 P.2d 1183 (1997)
Rockefeller v. Standard Oil Co. of California, 11 Wn. App. 520, 523 P.2d 1207 (1974) passim
<i>Tyler v. F.W. Woolworth Co.</i> , 181 Wash. 125, 41 P.2d 1093 (1935)7
Rules
CR 54(b)
RAP 13.4(b)(1)

I. INTRODUCTION

Under Washington law, business owners have a common law duty to provide their business invitees with safe ingress and egress. TVI failed to meet that duty, and Kristen Carney was injured as a result.

Quoting the central holding in *Rockefeller v. Standard Oil Co. of California*, 11 Wn. App. 520, 522, 523 P.2d 1207 (1974), the Court of Appeals reiterated that business owners owe their invitees safe ingress and egress even when they do "not own or control the property on which the hazard [is] located" and did not "create the hazard." *Carney v. Pacific Realty Associates, LP*, No. 80057-4-I, 2020 WL 5117966, *6 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 31, 2020). The Court of Appeals did not create a new duty; it merely applied controlling precedent to the facts in this case.

Nor did the Court of Appeals contradict or "set aside" this Court's decision in *Geise v. Lee*, 84 Wn.2d 866, 529 P.2d 1054 (1975). That decision addresses a wholly distinct issue, one that is not presented by TVI's petition for review, and it is not controlling here. Absent any such conflict, the Court of Appeals' decision presents a straightforward—and wholly correct—application of this Court's precedent. For these reasons, as set forth more fully below, TVI's petition for review should be denied.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 15, 2016, Kristen Carney was hit by a minivan in a crosswalk outside Value Village in Marysville Plaza. The crosswalk in which Ms. Carney was injured led her from the parking lot directly to Value Village's northern entrance. CP 822. The minivan hit Ms. Carney in the head, forcing her to the ground, where witnesses saw her bleeding from her face and ear. CP 432–33, 509, 513. Ms. Carney suffered a severe traumatic brain injury. CP 455.

The driver of the minivan, Meagan Norris, hit Ms. Carney while she was backing out of an angled handicap parking space near the Value Village entrance. CP 430. The design of the parking space required Ms. Norris to reverse her minivan directly into the crosswalk in order to leave the parking lot. *See* CP 143, 171–72, 307, 430–31, 822. A diagram in the police report notes the location of the collision, illustrating how Ms. Norris necessarily backed into the crosswalk to exit the handicap parking space, and establishing how close Ms. Carney was to Value Village's entrance when she was hit. CP 524.

The trial court record confirms that the dangerousness of such a configuration was apparent to anyone looking for potential hazards, including TVI as operator of the Marysville Plaza Value Village. CP 308, 373. The configuration of the parking space with respect to the crosswalk

creates an unreasonable risk of a vehicle vs. pedestrian collision. CP 307– 08. "[T]his risk of harm is 10 to 100 times greater than it would be if the stall was not so situated." CP 308. The risk to TVI's customers is heightened by the fact that crosswalks provide a sense of security for pedestrians. CP 328–29, 346, 373. Because crosswalks designate "pedestrian safe zone[s]," pedestrians are less likely to use the same level of caution that they would otherwise use, when crossing an unmarked road. CP 346; *see* CP 328–29. Pedestrians "feel protected in that particular space, thinking the [driver] is going to do their duty" by yielding to them. CP 329.

The trial court record also shows that TVI *knew* that the design of the angled handicap parking space in relation to the crosswalk posed an unreasonable risk to the safety of its business invitees. TVI admitted that it was well aware that "any customers" who backed out of the parking space "with the intention of going north afterwards would have to back out into the crosswalk itself in order to position their vehicle appropriately." CP 171–72. Despite knowing that the configuration of the angled handicap parking space and the crosswalk presented a hazard, TVI did nothing to reduce the risk posed by that hazard to its business invitees. For instance, TVI took no steps to warn its customers that vehicles necessarily would back directly into the crosswalk that ushered them to the store's northern entrance. TVI's failure led to Ms. Carney's injury, and to the injury of another one of its business invitees just three weeks later, who was harmed in the same fashion, in the same crosswalk. CP 300-01.

After Ms. Carney was hit in the crosswalk just as TVI could have predicted, she and her husband filed a Complaint against Ms. Norris, the at-fault driver, and later amended the Complaint to add additional defendants, including TVI. Ms. Carney alleged a negligence claim against TVI, arguing that TVI owed her a duty of care for two reasons. First, Ms. Carney argued that TVI possessed the parking lot by exercising control over it, thus giving rise to a duty of care. Second, Ms. Carney asserted that TVI had a duty to provide her with safe ingress and egress as a business invitee regardless of whether it possessed the parking lot.

TVI moved for summary judgment, and the trial court granted the motion, ruling that TVI owed no duty of care to Ms. Carney under either theory. CP 559–61. The court then entered partial judgment under CR 54(b), and Ms. Carney appealed. CP 8–10, 1. Relevant here, the Court of Appeals ruled that, under *Rockefeller*, business owners owe their invitees safe ingress and egress and that this duty exists even when the business owner does "not own or control the property on which the hazard [is] located" and did not "create the hazard." *Carney*, 2020 WL 5117966 at

4

*6 (quoting *Rockefeller*, 11 Wn. App. at 522). TVI now seeks

discretionary review of that ruling under both RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

III. APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Contrary To TVI's Assertion, The Court Of Appeals Did Not "Set Aside" *Geise v. Lee*, Nor Does The Court Of Appeals' Decision Conflict With Precedent.

TVI first argues that this Court should accept discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals' decision in this matter conflicts with precedent established by *Geise*. Pet. 8, 11. In so arguing, TVI conflates two separate legal duties: (1) the landlord's duty to maintain common areas, which was at issue in *Geise*; and (2) the business owner's duty to provide safe ingress and egress to its business invitees, which was at issue in *Rockefeller*. *See Geise*, 84 Wn.2d at 871; *Rockefeller*, 11 Wn. App. at 522. This Court's broad holding in *Geise* that a landlord must take reasonable steps to keep "all common areas reasonably safe from hazards likely to cause injury" does not preclude or negate other parties' legal duties that may arise in different scenarios, such as this one, where a retail tenant owes separate duties to its business invitees. 84 Wn.2d at 871.

Indeed, *Geise* does not discuss the duty of a retailer to provide safe ingress and egress, nor does it foreclose the imposition of such a duty.

Unlike the case at hand, *Geise* did not involve commercial property, where retail tenants rent space to operate their businesses. *See* 84 Wn.2d at 867. Instead, it dealt with residential tenants who leased spaces in a mobile home park. *Id.* Therefore, there was no reason or occasion for the *Geise* court to make any findings related to retailers' duties and responsibilities, like the duty to provide safe ingress and egress to their business invitees. The Court of Appeals' decision in this matter does not, therefore, undermine or negate *Geise*'s reasoning or holding. Absent any such conflict, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. As The Court of Appeals' Decision Relies On The Business Owner's Longstanding Duty To Provide Safe Ingress And Egress To Customers, The Decision Does Not Raise Any Issue Of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By This Court.

TVI also maintains that this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision establishes a significant new duty on retail tenants, which in turn creates an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. 15–16. TVI defines this purported new duty as a retail tenant's "duty 'to ensure safe ingress and egress' of business invitees approaching from the common area parking lot, even when they do not 'own or control the property on which the hazard is located." Pet. 11 (quoting *Carney*, 2020 WL 5117966 at *6); *see also* Pet 17–18. But the duty of safe ingress and egress that the Court of Appeals applied to TVI is nothing new. Accordingly, there is no issue of substantial public interest that warrants this Court's consideration.

The duty to provide safe ingress and egress to one's business invitees is well established in Washington. *See Rockefeller*, 11 Wn. App. at 522–23; *Baltzelle v. Doces Sixth Ave.*, 5 Wn. App. 771, 774, 490 P.2d 1331 (1971) (citing *DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 372 P.2d 193 (1962)); *Tyler v. F.W. Woolworth Co.*, 181 Wash. 125, 127, 41 P.2d 1093 (1935). Washington courts have defined that duty as the business owner's responsibility to keep the business's "approaches, entrances and exits in a reasonably safe condition for use of customers who are entering or leaving the business." *Baltzelle*, 5 Wn. App. at 774 (citing *DeHeer*, 60 Wn.2d at 123–24). Contrary to TVI's argument, the Court of Appeals did not alter this duty—or create a new duty—in its decision. Rather, it correctly followed the precedent set forth in *Rockefeller*, which explains the applicable standards. 11 Wn. App. at 520–22.

In *Rockefeller*, the plaintiff and his wife were driving their truck toward a Standard Oil service station. *Id.* at 520. On their way to the service station, "the left wheels of the truck ran into a ditch which was located on property owned by the State of Washington." *Id.* The ditch was approximately four feet from the Standard Oil entrance, on property

7

that was not owned Standard Oil. *Id.* Nevertheless, the court found that Standard Oil "owed a duty to its business invitees of safe ingress and egress from its property," and that "[w]hether th[at] duty was discharged was a proper question for the jury." *Id.* at 522.

In reaching its decision, the Court of Appeals in *Rockefeller* clarified that Standard Oil could not escape liability by arguing that the ditch was located on property that the State of Washington controlled. *Id.* at 522. The court held, "[t]o incur liability, Standard Oil need not own or control the property on which the hazard was located, nor is it required that Standard Oil create the hazard." *Id.* The court further explained that a reasonable juror could find that Standard Oil "should have taken reasonable precautions to eliminate" the hazard caused by the ditch, including "posting warnings or barriers or providing adequate illumination." *Id.* Although these actions would not have removed the ditch itself or changed the design of the road, they would have made the ditch more visible and/or more notable to Standard Oil's business invitees, or prevented them from reaching the hazard.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied *Rockefeller's* express holding in this matter when it rejected TVI's argument that TVI's duty to provide safe ingress and egress was somehow altered or eliminated because Ms. Carney tried to enter the store from an area that TVI did not control. As the above discussion makes clear, business owners owe their invitees safe ingress and egress under *Rockefeller* even when they do not own or control the property on which the hazard is located or create the hazard. The Court of Appeals did not create a new duty; it merely applied controlling precedent to the facts in this case.

TVI's numerous attempts to distinguish or otherwise undermine *Rockefeller*—and thereby manufacture an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court—easily fail. TVI first argues that *Rockefeller* is "unworkable" in this context because there are multiple tenants in Marysville Plaza, and none of them have control over the parking lot design. Pet. 17. But *Rockefeller* expressly stands for the proposition that, "[t]o incur liability, [the business owner] need not own or control the property on which the hazard [is] located, nor is it required that [the business owner] create the hazard." *Rockefeller*, 11 Wn. App. at 522. Following this precedent, the Court of Appeals here correctly found that TVI is not excused from its duty to provide safe ingress and egress because it does not control the property on which the threat to safe ingress and egress is located. *See id*.

Similarly, TVI makes much of the fact that this case involves parking lot "design" and that TVI did not design the space itself.¹ Pet. 12, 17–18. But an entity like TVI need not design the hazard in order for the entity to face liability for failing to make its own egress and ingress safe from known hazards. After all, in Rockefeller, Standard Oil did not design, build, or even maintain the hazardous ditch. 511 Wn. App. at 522. Nevertheless, the Court still found that Standard Oil could incur liability because the hazard threatened its customers' ingress and egress and because Standard Oil took no steps to reduce the risk like "posting" warnings or barriers or providing adequate illumination." Id. It made no difference that Standard Oil had not created the hazard, or that the hazard was on adjacent property: "[t]o incur liability, Standard Oil need not own or control the property on which the hazard was located, nor is it required that Standard Oil create the hazard." Id. Because Rockefeller dealt with a hazard that the business owner did not create or control, its analysis is controlling here.

In the same vein, TVI asserts that *Rockefeller* should not apply here because TVI "could not have 'eliminated' the handicap stall or painted the walkway with *warnings, barriers* or additional *illumination*."

¹ It should be noted that TVI's predecessor in interest, Safeway, did design the hazardous condition, requesting the placement of the crosswalk behind the parking space in order to create the ingress/egress that Ms. Carney eventually used. CP 809.

Pet. 14 (italics in original). TVI essentially argues that, if it cannot eliminate a particular hazard to its invitees through the exact means suggested by the Court of Appeals in *Rockefeller*, then no duty to address that hazard exists. *See id*. As the Court of Appeals pointed out in this case, TVI reads *Rockefeller* far too narrowly. *Carney*, 2020 WL 5117966, at *6. The actions that a business owner can and should take to alleviate a hazard will vary from case to case and from hazard to hazard. The steps that TVI could have taken to alleviate the problem, and the steps that would have been reasonable to take, are questions of fact for the jury, precluding summary judgment. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals was correct to remand the case "for further proceedings related to TVI's duty of safe ingress and egress." *Id*. at *7.

Next, TVI argues that, by applying *Rockefeller*'s holding to this case, the Court of Appeals' decision "essentially ignores the parties' contractual agreement" where another entity (Marysville Plaza Associates) agreed that it was responsible for the parking lot. Pet. 17. The Court of Appeals was correct to reject this argument and instead follow the central holding in *Rockefeller*: "[to] incur liability, [the business owner] need not own or control the property on which the hazard is located." *Rockefeller*, 11 Wn. App. at 522. Allowing TVI to argue that it is not liable because it is not contractually responsible for the area in which the threat to ingress and egress is located would contravene *Rockefeller*. The Court of Appeals recognized this problem and reiterated *Rockefeller's* rule rather than creating a new rule of liability based on the parties' private contract.

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